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COPY OF RECORD.

. 8, County, No. 17, April Term,

Wintiam P, Hiris In Common Pleas of Clearfield
Henry Loraln, 2 1849,

Sumanons Case, Sur Slander.

Writ returned served personally by copy. So answers
James Wrigley, Deputy Sheriff,

Smith appears for Defendant,

And now, 25th September, 1849, PItff. in this case, en-
ters a Rule to take depositions ; Exparte Rule on fifteen days
notice _ |

And now, 3d of October, 1849, Pltffs., narr., filed. Same
day Pltffenters a rule on Defendant, to plead in six weeks,
in this case, or Judgment will be entered for want ofa plea.

And now, November 14th 1849, the defendant pleads not
_Guilty, with leave to add, alter or amend.

Now, 16th of October, PItff. enters a Rule to take Deposi-
tions, Exparte Rule on ten days notice.

And, January 8, 1850, the Defendant enters a rule to take
Depositions of witnesses on ten days notice.

And now, February 6th ,1850, leave granted by the Court
to the Defendaht, toadd a special plea in the above case--
giving notice in writing, of the time of filing said special plea
to the Plaintiff. _

Now, May 2, 1850, Pitff. enters a rule for Commission,
and interrogatories to Milo Wigant, of Almond, Allegheny
county, New York, on 15 days notice.

June 24, 1850, Special plea filed.

July 15th 1850, Pltff. files his amended, narr.

July 16th 1850, Ptlff. enters a rule to take depositions &c.

October 28th 1850, Pltff enters a rule to take depositions,
July 22d 185G. Rule to arbitrate entered by defendant.
Arbitrators chosen 29th of August, viz : John R. Reed,
John Carlile and Roswell Luther, who are to meet on Tues-
pay, Sept. 24th, when agreement of parties to discharge the
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rule, and put cause on trial list for December Term 1840,
and Thursday fixed as day of trial.

And now, December 5th 1850, Cause reached—Jury
called and sworn viz John Daugherty Joseph Milwood,
Peter Gray, David Dressler, John S. Wiiliams, James Gun.-
salus, James H. Fleming, John Hare, Edmund Williams,
David Wise, jr. William Rishel and William Sloss, who up-
on their oaths and affirmations, respectively do say, they find
for the Plaintiff, three hundred and seventy-five dollars
damages.,

I do hereby certify that the above is a true copy of the
Docket entry given under my hand and seal of office, this
22d day of January 1851. ~

WILLIAM PORTER. Pmth’y.g L' s i

-~
CLEARFIELD COUNTY, SS:

Henry Lorain, M. D., has been summoned to answer
William P. Hills, of a plea of tresspass on the case, whereup-
on the said plaintiff, by Burnside and Curtin, his Attorneys,
complain : For that, whereas, the said pltff. now is, a good,
true, honest and faithful citizen of this Commonwealth, and
from the time of his nativity, hitherto, hath always behaved
and governed himself, and until the committing of the sev.
eral grieviancies, by the said defendant, as herein after men-
tioned, was always respected, esteemed, and excepted by and
amongst all of his neighbors, to whom he was known, as a
person of good name, fame and worth to wit : At the count
aforesaid —and whereas, the said Pltff, had studied the art,
mystery, business and profession of a Physician, to, and with
Physicians, who were eminent in their profession, and had
himself practiced as such, and had always conducted him.
self, in his profession aforesaid, with skill, discretion and
understanding, and has been, and still is expert and knowin
in the art and mystery of his profession and business, nnﬁ
especially in the artand mystery of Midwifery, and where.
as, the said pltff. was desirous of acquiring and still learning
still more of his profession as a physician, and of receiving
the degree which is conferred by Incorporate Schools, Col.
leges and Universities, on all those worthy to receive the
same, he, the said pltff,, did attend « course of Medical Lec.-
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tures in the City of Philadelphia, at Jefferson College, ap n.
stitution Incorporated by an Act of Assembly of this State,
and being carefully examined by the faculty of the said Col.
lege, was proved to be well grounded in the principles and
practice of his profession, and would have received the de-
gree from the faculty aforesaid, all which were accomplished
by great labor, and large expenses by the said pltff,, by rea-
son whereof, he, the said pltff. would have been known and
recognized as a regular bred physician, and would have been
enabled to add greatly to the wealth, profits, riches, which
he had acquired in practising Medicine,and added to the very
comfortable support of himself and family. Yet the said de-
fendant, well knowing the premises, but greatly envying the
bappy state and condition of the pltff,, and contriving and
maliciously designing to injure the said pitfl., in his good
name fame, and reputation, credit and esteem, and also to
induce the faculty of Jefterson College, not to grant the de-
gree of M. D., and a diploma to the said Plaintiff and intend-
ing to degrade, injure and to bring him the said pltff,, into
great scandal and disgrace, and utterly ruin him, the said
plaintiff. He the said defendant, on the 23d day of February
A. D. 1849, at the county aforesaid, did falsely and mali-
ciously, write and publish, and caused and procuied to be
writien and published, a certain false, scandalous and mali.
cious libel of and concerning the said plaintiff, in the form
and manner of a letter, directed to Thomas D. Matter, M. D.,
one of the professors of Jefferson Medical College, dated the
23d February, A.D., 1849, containing therein this false,
scandalous, lib2lous, defamatory and opprocrious matter
following, of and concbrning the said plaintiff :
“ CLEARFIELD, Feb, 23d, 1849,

¢ Trnomas D. Murrer, M. D.—Dear Sir: You have a
man attending your class, (meaning attending the Lectures
at Jefferson College,) named Wiriram P. Hixws, (meaning
the said Piaintiff;) who I, (the said Defendant, meaning,)
 have heard is attempting to get an examination for a Diploma
this Spring, either under the pretence that he (the said Plain.
tiff, meaning) has atlended Lectures in New York, and that
he, (the said Plaintiff, meaning,) has been recognized as a
regular practiser of Medicine for years.

“ As we, (meaning the said Defendant,) know he (the said
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Plaintill; meaning,) has no claims under either, | (meaning
the said Defendant) have thoughtit my duty to write to you,
(the said Thomas D. Mutter, M. D., meaning, ) on the subject.
The first trace of him,( the said Plaintiff, meaning,) that 1 (the
said Defendant, meaning,) can hear of him in Pennsylvania,
is keeping a Stud-Horse; next, a waggon maker; next,a
school master for 3 or 6 months, and immediately after that
2 Quack Doctor.  Ie, (the said Plaintiff; meaning,) has at-
tended four cases of Midwifery in our town, The first child,
he, (the said Plaintiff; meaning,) handed to the woman with-
out tying he cord. 1 (the. said Defendant, meaning,) find
sinee, that eight miles in the country, he had let one blead to
death from the same negleet, (meaning that the said Plaintiff
had carelessly and unskilfully delivered a woman of a child
—that the child had bled to death.) He (the said Plaintiff,
meaning, ) leta Mrs, Bates die undelivered, with a shoulder
presentation ; and let her Bladder burst for want of drawing
off herurine. This was near Phillipsburg, 20 miles from our
place. He (the said Plaintiff, meaning,) has performed the
operation of Cephalotomy five times that I (the said Defend-
ant, meaning) have heard of ; and in four cases where I (the
said Defendant, meaning,) know the women to be well form-
ed=-all of whom have living children——some born.before, and
some after the operation. All these in a vdry thinly settled
country, from 6 to 10 miles from our town, and noae ol them
more than six miles apart, and the other three scattered near-
Iy between them.

«Since living in'our place he (the said Plaintiff, meaning,)
has been constantly advertising Quack preperations of his
(the said Plaintiff’s, meaning,) own make ; and last Fall he
(the said Plaintiff, meaning,) had two young men out ped-
dling them ; the enclosed hand-bill is one of last fall ; before
that time, his (the said Plaintiff meaning,) leading arti-
cle was for the cure of Rheumatism.

“ If you (the said Thomas D. Mutter, meaning,) wish to
injure the standing of men who have a Diploma, you (mean-
ing the said Thomas D. Mutter, M. D.) cannot do it more
effectually, in Huntingdon, Mifflin, Lentre, and Clearfield
Counties, in all of which he (the said Plaintiff, meaning) has
resided, than by giving g diploma to such a man, (the said
Plaintiff meaning,) on his (the said Plaintiff,meaning,) attend.
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iflg one winter, particularly a diploma from Jefferson School.
Dr. Charles R. Foster of Phillipsburg, with whom you (the
said Thomas D. Mutter, M. D. meaning,) are acquainted ;
M. E. Woods now attending at your school, and Hardman
P. Thompson, at the University of Pennsylvania, all know
Hills, (the said Plaintiff meaning,) and hischaracter at home
to them I (the said Defendant, meaning,) would refer you
(the said Thomas D. Matter, M. D., meaning,) if you (the
said Thomas D. Mutter, M. D., meaning,) think any further
irformation necessary. Yours very respectfully,
Signed, HENRY LORAIN.”

And the said Defendant, on the same day and ycar afore-
said, at the County aforesaid, wrongfully, falsely, and mali-
ciously, sent, and caused to be sent, the said libel in the form
and manner aforesaid, unto the said Thomas D, Mutter, M.
D., one of the Professors in Jeflferson Medical College afore-
said, and the same was, by means of such sending thereof,
received, opened, and read by the said Thomas D. Mutter,
M. D.; and by the said Thomas D. Mutter, M. D., submitting

~ to the faculty of Jefferson Medical College, was refused by

reason thereof, to granta Diploma and degree to the said
Plaintiff, and the said Plaintiff’ by reason of the writing and
jpublishing of which said false, scandalous, and malicious
libel and libellous matter, was otherwise much hurt and pre-
udiced in his geod name, fame, credit, and esteem, in his
business and profession, andis fallen into great discredit
among his patients and other worthy citizens, insomuch that
his patients and other citizens have, on account of the said
libel, altogether refused, and still do refuse, to employ him,
the said Plaintiff, as a Physicianand Mid wife :—to the dam-
age of the said Plaintiff two thousand dollars, therefore he
brings his suit, &ec.
s BURNSIDE & CURTIN,_
II{N%O DE{?E, ; e Attys. for Pltﬂ_‘.

 Wirrrax P. Hives, ) In the Common Please of Clear.
T, field County, No. 17, April Term,
Hexry Lorain 1849. (
And the said Heanry Lorain, defendant, by his Attorney,
Josiah W. Smith. answers and defends, &¢.—hecause he saith
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that before and at the time of the said publication of- hisfet.
ter of 23d February, 1849, as stated in the plaintiff’s decla-
ration, were charges made by him to Dr. Mutter, as Profes-
sor of the Jefferson Medical College, at Philadelphia, in order
that he the said Dr. Mutter, and the other Professors of the
said College, might have an enquiry made of the said char-
ges as contained in his said letter of 23d February, 1849, a- .
gainst the said Wm, P. Hills ; that he the said Henry Lorain
did it from a sense of duty as a medical man. He believes
the charges in that letter as contained in the plaintiff’s dec-
lara‘ion, to be true, from the information he then had on the
subject, and thinks he can prove that the said Wm. P. Hills,
in his Profession and attendance as a midwife, performed the
operation of Cephalotomy where it was unnecessary, and
that he neglected to tie the umbilical cord of the new born
infant, in the cases as stated in his letter of 23 February, °
1849, by reison whereof one of the infants died. And that
also by reason of his unskillfulness suffered a Mrs, Bates to
die undelivered as stated in his said letter contained in the
Plaintiff’s declaration, and he will also prove that the said
William P. Hills sold Medicines called Quack Medicines,con-
trary to the rules of the medical profession, and of these mat.
ters, he, the said Doctor Henry Lorain is ready to verify.—
Wherefore he prays Judgment, if the said William P. Hills
ought to have or maintain his aforesaid action against him. *

And as to the {urther statements made in his letter of 23d
February 1849, against the said William P. Hills, to wit :—
That he kept a Stud-Horse, was a wagon maker, and school
master,—he the said Doctor Lorain made the statement from
reports then made to him that were in circulation,

JOSIAH W, SMITH,
Atty. for Defendant.

Thomas D, Mutler, a witness produced on behalf of the
plaintiff, deposeth as follows, having first been duly sworn : .
I am abont forty years of age. 1 am Doctor of Medicine

and professor of Surgery in the Jeflerson Medical College,
located in the city of Philadelphia. 1 have been professor
there nine years, [ know William P, Hills, the plaintiff in
this suit. He was a student in the Jefferson Medical College
in the session of 48 & 49, He was a candidate for exam. ,
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wation before the Medical Board of Jetferson College in the
Spring of eighteen hundrsd and forty.nine. He did not re-
ceive a diploma ; a diploma was refused him in consequence
of certain charges affecting his moral and professional char-
acter made against him by Doctor Lorain (Henry Lorain.)
The charges were made in the shape of two letters addressed
tome. I received them by mail. These are the lstters, to
the best of my belief. They are identified by my endorse.
ment, and are now marked A & B, for the purpose of being
annexed hereto. No action nas or can be taken in his case
until the charges contained in these letters are removed.

Cross examined by H. P. Thompson, for defendant.

The printed document marked C, hereto annexed, contains
all the gualifications requisite, to secure a diploma from the
Jeffersan Medical College.

, THOS. D. MUTTER.
Sworn and subscribed to before me, Oct. 1849,
JOEL COOK, Alderman, g

Robley Dunglison, produced on behalf of the plaintiff,
deposeth as follows, having first been duly sworn :

[ am fifty-one years of age ; I am Doctor of Medicine and
Professor of the Institutes of Medicine in the Jefferson Medi-
cal College in the city of Philadelphia. I have been a pro-
fessor since 1836 ; | know William P, Hills; he was a stu-
dent in the Jefferson Medical College during the session of
'48 and ’49 ; he was a candidate for diploma for the spring
of eighteea hundred and forty-nine; he did not receive his
diploma. We have a law, or rather a rule, of our Faculty,
that a respectable practitioner of four years standing, on at-
tending one course of lecturcs, may be permitted to present
himself as a candidate. Letters were written stating that he
had not been a respectable practitioner. Being shown the
letters hereto annexed marked A and B, he says these are
some of the letters referred to. The*whole affair was refer-
red to a committee consisting of myself and Dr. Mutter, and
the Faculty finally resolved, that he must satisfy them that
he was a respectable practitioner. We did not ballot upon
his medical qualifications ; this was a preliminary investiva.
tion ; (there was a letter from Dr. Lorain, written to Dr.
Woaod, on the same sabject of Mr. Hill’s qualifications, laid
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He must present to the Dean of the Faculty a thesis of his
own composition, ¢orrecily written, and in his own handwri-
ting, on some medical subject ; and exhibit to the Faculty, at
his examination, satisfactory evidence of his professional at-
tainments.

1f, after an examination for a degree, the candidate, on
ballot, shall be found to have received three negative votes,
hie shall be entitled to a fresh examination. Should he de-
cline this, he may withdraw his thesis, and not be considered
as rejected.

The degree will notbe conferred on any candidate who
absents himself from the public commencement, except by
special permission of the Faculty.

" [Exhibit A, referred to in the foregoing depositions. |
CLEARFIELD, 6th March, 1848,

DEear Sik :—I have been informed that Col. Wm. Bigler
has given Hills a certificate of character to enable him to
avoid the attendance of two terms before he is examined for,
a diploma. Acting under that information, I have thought it
a duty to myself to write you again, and refer yoy to Dr.
Foster, or anv other graduate of Centre or Clearfield coun-
ties, to see if you can find one who has ever called Hills in
to consult, or acknowledged him as a physician. For his
character for truth, 1 would refer you to Dr. Foster, M. E.

* Wood, and Hardman Thompson ; and for his character for
honesty, I would refer you to Josiah W. Smith, the leading
lawyer of our place, a man well known to many of the citi-
zens of your city. Col. Bigler may not be aware of many
of the facts | have stated, owing to his absence from town
attending to the Senate, his lumber on the river, his saw-
mills, and to political tours through the State, which have
kept him from home nine-tenths of the time since Hills has
resided in our placc. The Col. is a political aspiraut and
never fails to make a friend when he can; and il he knows
Hills well he knows him to be a man who would not stop at
any falsehood to injure him in his political course if he refus-
ed to give him such a character as he wished ; but 1 am cer-
tain the Col. does not know him as well as1 do, who have
been placed in situations that have opened his character to
me. Whilst Hills has ncver been employed in Bigler’s fam-
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ily, or any of his relations, or those of his wife's, who are
very numerous, or in the families of his partners, and as
Hills neither gambles, drinks or swears, and makes preten-
tions of being religious, he might easily deceive the Colonel,
who is so much from home. But if he thinks a respectable
physician would perform the operation of cephelotomy on
the child of a well formed woman, and tell the aunt of the
woman that the child was living, and laugh, and say to her
that these little things had no souls, as Mrs. Pearce, the aunt,
told me Hills did at Mrs. Tavlor’s, where he performed the
operation twice in her presence, and without a consultation,
or any effort to get one, and on the children of a woman who
has living children born both before and after he performed,
the operation, |

Last Spring James Graham, a farmer, called on me to see
if I could be prevailed on to go to his house eight miles from_
our.town, when the proper time arrived, to attend his wife, -
who was pregnant, and nearly crazy, as Hills had attended
her on her last confinement, and had told her she could nev-
er live to give birth so another child. 1 had frequently seen
her and thought she was a well formed woman. I made ev-
ery enquiry that | thought necessary and could not find she
had had any bad symptoms, but a lingeringlabor, I told
him that Hill was a reckless quack, who understood little ox
nothing about the matter, and that he should tell his wife so,
and give every encouragement he could, and that although <
my health did not permit me to go so far generally, that I
would attend her. I did so, and found her pelvis well form.
ed, and all the parts healthy, and she had a speedy, natural
labor ; but was excessively frightened. 1 there found the
cause of his acting in such a rascally manner towards her.
He had not tied the cord in any way, nor made any attempt,
towards it, It had been laid on a chair, and when they went
to wash it, it had bled to death, and the excuse was that she
was so bad that he had to devote all his attention to her, and_
that she never could live over another confinement., -  *

Yours, very respectfully,
HENRY LORAIN.
[Exhibit B, referred to in the forgoing deposition.)
CLEARFIELD, 23 Feb., 15349.
Tuaomas D. Myrrer,—Dear Sir: You haye a man attend.

4
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ing your class named Wwm. P. Hirus, who I have heard is
attempting to get an examination for a Diploma this Spring,
either under the pretence that he has attended lectures in
New York, or that he has been recognised as a regular <
practitiofier of medicine for years. As we know he has no
claims under either, I have thought it my duty to write to you
on the subject. The first trace of him that I can hear of
in Pennsylvania, is keeping a Stud-Horse ; next, a waggon
maker ; next a scheol-master, for three or six months, and
immediately after that a Quack Doctor. He has atended
four cases of Midwifery in our town : the first case he handed
to the woman without tying the cord—-I find since, that eight
miles in the country he let one bleed to death from the same
neglect. He leta Mrs. Bates die undelivered with a shoulder
presentation, and let her Bladder burst for want of drawing
off her urine. This was near Philipsburg, 20 miles from our
place. He has performed the operation of Cephalotomy five
times thatI have heard of, (and in four cases where I know
the women to be well formed, all of whom have living
children—some born before and some after the operation.)
All these in a very thinly settled country—from 6 to 10 miles
from our town, and none of them more than 6 miles apart,
and the other three scattered nearly between them,

Since living in our place he has been constantly adverti-
sing Quack preparations of his own make, and last Fall he
had two young men out peddling them ; the enclosed hand-
bill is one of last fall, before that time his leading article was
for the cure of Rheumatism. | :

If you wish to injure the standing of men who have a Di.
" ploma,you cannot do it more effectually in Huntingdon,Mifflin,
Centre, and Clearfield counties, (in all of which he has re-
sided,) than by giving a Diploma to such a man on his at-
tending one winter, particularly a Diploma from Jefferson
School. Doctor Charles R. Foster of Philipsburg, with whom
you are acquainted, M. E, Woods now attending at your
school, and Hardman P. Thompson at the University of
Pennsylvania, all know Hills, and his character at home to
them I would refer you if vou think any further information
necessary . Yours very respectfully,

HENRY LORAIN.
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Deposition of Dr. Thos. D: Mutter, taken 29th of Octo-
ber 1849, with accompanying letters. Defendants Counsel
object to the part in brackets,and the letter of Dr. Lorain to
Dr. Mutter, dated 5th March, 1849, on the ground of irrele-
vancy. and that the letter is not counted on. Objections
overruled, and the letter admitted, the part in brackets rejec-
ted. Defendants counsel excepts, and this bill is sealed.

T
GEORGE W, WOODWARD. < seaL.

-
VERDICT OF THE JURY.

We find for Plaintiff' in the Charges of keeping Stud
horse, Waggonmaking and five Cuases of Cephalotamy Three
hudred and seventy-five Dollars Damage,

EVIDENCE ON BEHALF OF THE DEFENCE.
MRS. BATES' CASE.

Mrs. Parker sworn-—I1 was called on Saturday to see
my sister, Mrs. Bates. On Sunday morning she appeared
poorly and wanted me to stay. I told her I thought she had
better send for a Doctor ; Bates then said he would go for
Dr. Hills; Dr. Hills came in a short time after, and she
appeared quite better when he got there; 1 went down stairs
soon after he came ; I had not been down bat two or three
winutes till he called me up; he then gave me a cathartic
and told me to put itina cup 3 parts full of water ; this was
all he done for her at that time. She was better in the even:
ing and sat up; 1 talked of going home ; Hills told me I had
better stay, as she would be better before morning; 1 thought
I could be spared as Mrs. Hudson and Mrs. Hancock wers
there ; about one o’clock I neard her moan and got up ; she
appeared worse; I then awoke the Doctor; he said he
must make an examination. I then went down stairs and
in a few minutes I heard her distressing cries and moans.—
I went up; she was in the bed, and Mrs., Hudson holding
her. Hills was operating. She begged him to let her be.—
't distressed me so thatI went to him and put my arms
around him and begged him to desist. He pushed me away
and said he knew his own business, I wentdown and told her
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husband to go for Dr, Lorain or Dr, Smith, as1 did not like
the way Hills was proceeding with his wife. He went to
the stable and got his horse. - When he had got his horse
Hills told him he might go for who he pleased as he had done
all he could for her; I think he said to go for Iddings at Phil-
ipsburg. [ think he then bled her andgive her an emetic.—
By this time Iddings had got therc. The- first thing that
was dene Hills gave Iddings some liquor, haw wuch I do not
know. Hills told me he gave it to him to brace his nerves,
as he was not fit to do anything until he had some. ~ They
went into the room; Hiils took me into another room aud
told me he had to leave ; 1told him he had better stay; he
said he had some lumber at Clearfield Bridge that e had to
attend to. I asked him if we had not better send for anothet
Physician. He said that all the Doctors in the world could
do nothing for her. [ asked him if nothing more could be
done ; he said not. 1 said while there is life there is hope.
1 then ‘said I suppose itis all over with her ; he said there was
one probability, thatis, that the child might rot in 8 or 9 days
and then with great care she might get better.  Dr. Hills
then left. Dr. [ddings said it was too late to do anything for
her ; he wished he had been called in sooner. Hills called
the first medicine which he gave her Ergot, There was an
arm outside of her body when Hills left. She had no pas-
sage from her bowels, nor had she passed any urine. Hills
gave her no injections, nor made any effort to draw off her
water; he had made no examination before he gaye her the
Ergot. She was sitting up and appeared well. 1 cannot
say how long he was operating ; she was lying on her back,
with her legs stretched out, entirely on the bed ; the Doctor
was on the side, and Mrs. Hudson was holding her down-—
1 saw no greasing of his hands and arms; he operated first
with one hand and then with the other. She had two child-
ren born before alive. Dr. Hills attended her with her first
child. He was halfan hour or an hour operating with his
hands the evening before. He held up his hands, and turn-
ing them round, he said they were just calculated for a Doc-
tor. they were so small. He said they were either twins, and
had grown together, or that the child had grown fast to the
womb. He said this before he had made any examination.
The parts were so inflamed that she eould not bear to haye
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them touched. Dr. Iddings said nothing to me about turn.
ing the child; all he said was as I have above stated. The
arm of the child was in the world when Hills left, and had a
ribbon tied to it. Hills tied the ribbon on it; I do not know
why he done so; Dr. Iddings cut the arm off’ outside of the
woman’s body. :

Cross Ezxamination.~Dr. Hills first came about ten
o’clock on Sunday morning ; he made no examination on
that day ; we went to bed about 10 o’clock that night. I
wakened ahout one o’clock and staid up the rest of the night ;
about the break of day I think he commenced making an
examination, Dates started about 7 or 8 o’clock for an oth.
er Dr.  This was on the first day of July. She ook
sick on the last day of June, and died on the first day of Ju-
ly. Dr. Iddings came in the forenoon. Hills pushed me
away before lddings came. [ think Hills operated first with
one hand and then the other. He did nothing atall but give
the Ergot, 1was in the room all day; he had no time to
make an examination while I was out of the room ; there was
no working with the hands after Iddings came ; [ know
what it was that Hills gave me, it was blasted rye; he di.
rected me to put hot or boiling water on it. Ilelt on Mon.
day—sister dying. 1 was most needed at home. I did say
that Dr, Hills did all that he knew how; that he did it feor
‘“the'best. I never said that I thought he had done right.—
[ told Wm. L Moore that [ believed Dr. Hillsdid as well as
he knew how, but that he did not know what he was doing.
I told Wm, Merrell that I thought Hills did what he thought
was for the best. Mrs. Hudson was the mid-wife. Dr. Id-
dings never attended in our family. I.refused to have Hills
sent for when I had a child afterwards. They wanted to
send for him, but I declined. I did without a physician.

Mrs. Mary Ann Williamson, sw.—I was called on by
Dr. Hills on Monday to go and see Mrs. Bates. He said to
goand do what I could for her, as there was no prospect of
her getting better. I got there about 12 o’clock as near as
I'can tell, T went up stairs; Mrs, Bates was on the floor
and Dr. Iddings by her side; e hadjust laken the child’s
arm off and a few minutes after he got hold of one of the feet.
He ordered me to wash her. IHer bowels were hanging out.
I could not wash her; she was sosore, He said that if he
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had been called sooner, he could have saved her life. She
died about one o’clock on Tuesday morning, I was with
Mrs. Bates twice before when she had children, There was
no difficulty then ; it was awfulto see her die in such suf-
fering; it was an awful death. The parts was so much in-
flamed that she could not suffer me to laya sponge on
them. ~
~ Cross Ezamined.—Dr. Hills was her physician at her first
confinement. -

Dr. Lewis Iddings sworn.—1 was called on to go and
sec Mrs. Bates at her lastconfinement, When I got there;
the parts were so much inflamed that I could not make a sat-
isfactory examination. I thought as the arm protruded that
it was a shoulder presentation. I could do nothing for her.
I endeavored to return the arm and bring down the feet, but
:ould not, as the parts were so much inflamed and injured ;
.here was no malformation of the parts, Dr. Hills said she
had urinated, but I thought she had not. ‘I was lying on a
bed in an adjoining room, with the door open between the
rooms; I heard a report, and said that I thought her blad-
der had bursted. She died almost immediately. I once
turned a child. 1 was about twelve or filteen minutes doing
it, |

Cross Examined.—-1 think she had a passage from her
sowels after I got there. Idonot know if Hills gave her
Brgot, if he did 4t was malpractice. 1never left a  woman
andelivered. Never had one die before delivered. 1 would
not leave a patient as Hills did Mrs. Bates,

THE PLAINTIFF CALLS IN THIS CASE |

Wm. Bates——1 brought Dr. Iddings on Monday morning
about 8 o’clock. Hills suggested to me, to go for another
nhysician, Hills was attentive while he was there, so far as

know.

Cross Examined.—1 do not consider myself capable of
‘fudging of what was right. I was out part of the time,—
She slipped and fell about two weks before.

Dr, Iddings sworn.—I1 did not know what kind of a pre-
entation it was until the arm protruded, the parts were so
juch inflamed, Dr, Hills did evervthing he was capable of
ong
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John Lytle sworn.—Mrys. Parkersaid Hills had done his
best, as she thought. 1 do not recollect that she said she
was satisfied ; ; she was very unwilling to come to court.

William L. Moore sworn.—Mrs, Parker and I on two
occasions, had some conversation about ber sister’s death.—
She spoke of the Physician attending. She said she had no
reflections ; they done the best they ‘could, This was in the
Fall of 1848. Last Spring she tn!& me she was subpeened,
and said her testimony would be against Dr. Hills, for she
was not satisfied.

Dr. Charles R. Foster sworn.—I ain a practising Physi-
cian, a graduate of the Jefferson College ; have practised
about 5% years. [ have had experience in Midwifery, Dr.
Hills’ treatment of Mrs. Bates, as descr.bed by witnesses,
was not skillful. Ergotis generally given after an examina-
tion, and after he knows the condition of the uterus; itis
never proper to give ergot without ascertaining the position
of the child, nor then, unless necessary to expel the feetus.—
[ would deplﬂta the woman first, and give crgot afterwards.
This I presume was a shoulder presentation ; this is remedied
by turmnt’r the child; the urine is first drawn off—the bow-
els evacuated be fore turning the child—the hand should be
greased ; «one hand kept to ascertain external conditions ;—=
from 5 to 20 minutes to turn a child,——think this was a should-
et presentation and that the arm came out by unskilful seae-
Testations: . "

Cross Evamined.—Have delivered about 100 children.—
never lost a mother, nor left a woman undelivered.

MRS. TAYLOR'S CASE.

Dr. Charles R. Foster, recalled.—Different modes of as-
certaining whether the cl lld is dead ; one mode is by touch-
ing the cnrd another the head ; best mnde by listening to the
beat of the heart ; use Stethcsmpc ; hard to tell whether the
child is dead or lwmg in sore cases; child may be living
and difficult to tell it.  Cephalotomy allowed to be perfnrrned
when it is ascertained that the child cannot be born unless
perforating the head ; ve]e rarely done ; should not be done
without a consultation. My opinionis that no doctor should
perform the operation without a consultation, if one could be
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had ; should not be perlormed when there is no deformity ot
the pelvis. Assoon as the child 1s delivered and cries; I tie
the cord—-tie it before cutting, in2 places; done on the bed;
cut between the ties ; child derives its life through the cord,
from the mother ; general practice to tieit before cutting ; if
the child has cried, be a bad practice to cut the cord before
tying it. Some medical men of some repute, think it neces-
sary to cut the cord and let it bleed awhile before tying it ;
.advised when the child has cried ; plenty of theories in med-
icine ; necessary to let the child bleed a few drops; do not
believe it is proper when a person has had a former child ;
not proper to perform the operation without a consultation ;
cannot tell whether the operation is necessary without see-
ing the patient ; the object of the operation is to save the
mother ; a large proportion of the mothers are saved by the
operation ; where it is necessary and not performed, the
mothei and child bothdie. If a consultation cannot be had,
and the operation is necessary, I would perform it; do not
recollect cases of cord around the neck; cords do not vary
much ; usual length about 18 inches or 2 feet; 4 kinds of
Shoulder Presentations ; some of them more difficult to turn
the child than in others; never have used forceps.

CEPHALOTOMY CASES.

DMrs. Hannnh Pearce sworn.—1 was present at the birth
of the second child of Mrs. Taylor that Dr. Hills delivered ;
he took the child from her by force. She was sick from
Tuesday till Saturday ; hedelivered the child with his hands;
there was a hole in the childs head, but I do not know how
it came th®re. Isaw him go to the bed with instruments in
his hand ; when the child was delivered it had a hole in its
head ; I did not see the Doctor make it. He had an instru-
ment with a hook on it; he delivered her on his knees with'
his hands. [ was in the room; I did not see the first child :
he said these little things were no more than an arm ora leg,
until they breathed; he repeated this at the breakfast table.

- Cross Lixamined.—She was taken sick on Tuesday ; Dr.
Hill came on Friday night; she was very bad. Taylor said
to save his wife and never mind the child; the mother was
saved ; sheis a hearty woman vet; in two weeks from that
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day she walked _, of'a mile; her friends were alarmed after
it was over ; some of them beganto make a fuss about it.—
I am a mother. The child wasa very large one. Mrs.
Taylor had other children who were very small; she had
one since that was born dead ; her labor was very hard ; no
Doctor present ; 1 do not know the size of the one that was
born dead ; thie one that Dr. Hills operated on was a good
deal larger than her other children ; she begged the Doctor
to deliver her dead or alive ; she told me in the middle of the
-afternoon that she thought her baby was dead. She has had
six children born alive; one of them died when it was several
vears old ; shie had two living children after the first opera.
tion. I think she weuld have died if Hills had not come to
- her relief. She had no convulsicns.

William Tuylor sworn.—~I was not in the room all the
time ; he delivered her with instruments ; she was in labor a
long time and all thought the children were dead; he used
an instrument with a hook on the end, [ told him to deliver
my wife, and save her; he got his instruments and he and
I went out and ground the hook ; he hooked it in the child’s
head and cdelivered her; he asked me to help hin grind the
hook ; 1 was notin the house when the child was born; the
midwife to!d me the child had died and that I had befter go
for a Doctor orthe woman would die, There was no instru-
ment used to ascertain if the ¢hild was allve or not ; no steth-
escope used. The second child was delivered in the same
way. He used the instruments then also, The second one
had a hole in its head; he used no means to find out if this
one was dead or not that I saw ; she has had six living chil.
dren, five of whom are still living. She had two since the
first, and before the second operation, born alive,  She had
no fits at either time, A9,

The Deposition of Mrs. Ilizabeth Pearce vead.-~-]1 was
twice at Wm. Taylors when Dr. Hills was there. Wm.
Taylor sent for me at the time his wife was confined ; as |
was going there I met Hills ; he told me the child was alive;
this was about 8 o’clock in the morning ; in the afternoon his
instruments came : he used them some time ; he then took
another instrument likea pair of shears and went to the wo-
man ; the first instrument was a large one, The child was
horn the next morning after I got theve,  Hills put it in an
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old bucket, and buried it in the garden. This was the first
time he was there; I did not see the child. Hills said these-
little things had no souls. He told me that he had one case
of the same kind before. 1 was not in the house when the
second child was born. When I came in the house itlaid
on the floor dead. 1 do not know if there was any marks on
this child, for I did not see 1ts head ; the cap had been put
onit, Mrs. Taylor had three children born alive before
Dr. Hills performed these operations, and two born alive be.
tween the two operations. I did not see the first child, the
second was a middling sized one.

Uiross Examined.—Hills never told me he had performed
the operation [requently ; she was in labor a long time ; she
had as hard labour pains as I ever knew, I did not see the
first child ; the last one was a middle sized child.

Deposition of Mrs. Catharine Smeal read.—-1 am seven-
&3 years old, and sometimes act as midwife ; in that capaci-
1y I was at Wm. Taylorstwo different times when Dr. Hills
was there between 1842 and 1848, at which times it became
necessary for him to perform the operation of Cephalotomy
to save the life of Mrs. Taylor, and that in my opinion the
children were dead before the operation was performed. I
didlnut hear Dr. Hills say that these little things had no
souls, 5

PLAINTIFF CALLS IN THIS CASE'

Wm. Taylor—My wife fell and hurt herself both times
that the operation was performed ; the first time she fell
partway down the stairs with a dough-tray in her arms ; the

second time she fell off a chair on which she was standing ;
~ both these were about two weeks before she was detivere§ ;
she complained very much from that time until she was de-
livered. She was delivered two wecks before her time.

NOT TYING THE CORD AND LETTING THE CHILD
BLEED TO DEATH.

James Graham sworn.—1 went for Dr, Hills; he came
about 8 o’clock and at 4 o’clock the next day he delivered
my wife; he used instruments : I did not see him tying the

&,



: [22]
”

gord ; I don’t think it was done ; the child bled about one-
half pint and died ; there was some trouble to get it to breathe;
it laid on the floor about fifteen minutes ; when it was taken
up it had bled, and died about halt an hour after it was born;
I was in the roora all the time ; he did not draw off her
urine or evacuate her howels; he did all that he new
how ; whether he did right [ know not. She made no urine
nor did she have her bowels open,

Cross Faamined,—The child should have been born five
or six hours sooner ; the cord was not tied ; 1 was looking at
the Dr. all the time ; my wile was no worse than common
after the deliverey; he need not have used instruments if he
had delivered ber in time; I know of no cause of delay but
the want of a good physician. Dr. Hill did all he knew how.
Dr. Lorain did not do as he did ; my wife has had another
child since ; Lorain had no difficulty in delivering her,

Eve Graham Sworn.—1 was present at the time Hills

delivered Jas. Graham’s wife; I can’t say that 1 saw the
cord tied ; I was in the room all the time, and was with her
a good deal ; the child hled near half a pint; it bled at the
navel ; it lived half'an hour or an hour. I think it was the
bleeding caused the death of the chila.
- Cross Ezxamined.—She was very bad ; there was a good
deal of flooding. I did not see the navel string -tied. He
attended to the woman ; the Dr, seemed kind enough; he
did not draw ofl her urine or evacuate her bowels.

Mys. L. Weinnery called.—Can’t tell whether Dr. Hills
tied the cord or not, :

PLAINTIFF CALLED IN THIS CASE

Mary Graham.—]1 assisted Dr. Hills when Mys. James
Graham was delivered, 1 &nd Dr. Hills tied the cord afterit
was taken away from tne mother ; it was tied with woolen
yarn, about 20 winutes after it was born; the child was
laying on the chair all the time; it was dead when it was
born; it began to breathe in about five minutes; it had
bled some. It died in about half an hour after we had tied
the cord. There was not much floodins. I think she made
water the evening before.

Boecon = L.
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to baul medicines of his own make, and leave them at differ-
ent places to sell on commission ; he had John Southard em-
ployed after I quit. The medicines were, Hills’ syrup of
Squills ana Tetter Ointment, The Syrup of Squills was -
composed of Squills, loal sugar, winter green and tartar .
emetic. The Tetter ointment of lard, ceder oil and mitric
acid.

Defendant offcrs to prove by the witness now on the stand,
Dr. Foster, that he heard that Dr. Hills kept a stud horse,and
that he communicated the fact to the Defendant before the
letiers in the case were written ; and that he uisu heard he
had been engaged in wagon- m&kmg, which he aiso told Dr.
Lorain before the said lelters were written, To which evi-
dence Plaintiff objects, nlucctmn sustained, evidence rejected
and Defendant excepts.

e
GEO. W, WOODWARD. < L. S,
A e }
Deposition of Z. S. Jackson, M. I)., produced, sworn and
examined the 7th day of June, A, D., 1850, at Almond, in
the County of Allegheny, and State of New-York; un-
der and by virtue ofa Commission issued out of the County
Court of Common Pleas of the County of Clearfield, in the
State of Pf.,nnajhanm, in a certain cause there indepen-
pending and at issue between William P. Hills, Plaintiff,
and Henn Lorain, Defendant, as follows :

" The said Z.S. Jackson of Almond aforesaid, Physmlan,
aged about 60 vears, being duly and publicly sworn, pursu-
ant to the directions hereto annexed, doth depose and say as
tollows, being examined on the part of the Plaintiff:

1st. To the firs! interrogation he saith: Was acquainted
with the Plaintiff, William P. Hills from some time about the
vear 1829 to about the vecar 1831, but was not acquainted
with the Defendant.

2d. To the second interrogation he saith : That at the time
he wasacquainted with him, as set forth in the answer to the
1st interrogatory, he resided in the village of Prattsburg, in
the County of Steuben, in the State of New-York.

3d. Tnth[ third interrogation he saith: That the Plaintiff

commenced the study of medicine with him, at his office, on
-
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the 26th day of June, 1829, and continued to prosecute that
study under his directions, for about two, or two and a half
years, as near as he can now recollect.

ath. To the fourth interrogation he saith : That the Plain.
tff, while a student with him, was faithful in Lis attention
thereto, and a young man of correct habits, and evinced,
while practising, as he occasionally did under his supervi-
sion, much skill. *

He knows of no other matter or things material to the
parties in this action, except that he knows that the Plaintiff
studied medicine regularly in the office of’ A. D. Vorhies, M.
D., from 6 to 12 months, at Prattsburg, subsequent to this
study with the witness.

 Cross Interrogated,—

)st. To the first cross interrogation he saith : That William
P. Hills did study medicine in his office regularly from day
today, for the time stated in his answer to the 3d direct inter-
rogatory, except as hereinafter specified in the answer to the
2d cross interrogatory.

2d. To the second cross interrogatory he saith : That the
Plaintiff, during the last year of his study with him, taught a
school for the period of about six months, dufing which time
he was absent from his office, but kept up his studies as far as
reading was concerned. :

3d. To the 3d cross interrogatory he saith: That. the
Plaintiff followed no other business or occupution from_ the
time he entered his office as a student, except as stated in the
answer to the 2d cross interrogatory above. '

4th, In answer to the 4th eross interrogatory he saith:
That the Plaintiff, previous to his commencing the study of
medicine with him, pursued the occupation of farming,

5th. In answer to the fifth cross interrogatory be saith :
That he does not now recolleet whether he did, or did not
give him a certificate. Z.S. JACKSON.,

Examination taken, reduced to writing, and by the witness
subscribed, and sworn to this 7th cay of June, 1850, before

' M. H. WYGANT,

(Commissioner,
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like verbal slander, but.a public oflence, for which an indict-
ment will lie, Henee the maxim that vou sometimes hear—
the greatev the truth the greater the libel.  But the civil ac-
tion proceeds on no considerations of public policy, and is to
be regarded as merely a remedy for a private injury. = The
Plaintiff asks for compensation in damages for an alleged
injury to his reputation, and in such an action the truth is a
defence ; for every man should so live that the truth, when-
ever published, cannot injnre him, becanse it cannot be de-
rogatory. But if scandol is published, and is justified as
true, and proved to be so, the objeet of it must not be permit-
ted to recover damages, even though the publication was un-
necessary and malicious ; for it is to be presumed he is not
injured. 1t the rale were not so, the most infamous charac-
ters, of whom the woust things could with truth be published,
would be entitled to the largest damages.

In this action the Plaintiff; 1o entitle him to recover, must
drove, 1st. The writing of the libel. 2d. The publieation ;
and 3d, the malice. -

1st. The writing of the letter of 23d February, 0849, on

which the Plaintift’s declaration is founded, is admitted and
avowed by Dr. Lorvain, and [ may add, it is highly libellous.
2d. As to publication: writing a libellous letter and sending
it by post to a person who receives and reads it, is in law a
publication ; and this is very fully proved on the part of the
Plaintiff, by the depositions of Drs. Mutter and Dungleson.-—
[Here the court referred to these depositions, and instrueted
the jury that if this evidence were believed, the publication of
the libel was amply proved.]
“ 3d. Malice in general must be proved. The two letters
in evidence afford the strongest implication of malice, unless
they were what the defendants’ counsel insist they were,
privileged communications.

There are manv communications, which, when made bona
Jide, are priviledged :—that is, the party making them shall
not be called en to substantiate their truth, or be mulet in
damages. Giving character, as it is called, to servants,
when applied for ; representations to the executive power of
the country in reference to applicants for, or incumbents of,
public trusts; letters of friendly expostulation and advice ;
fair eriticisms of published works : reports of the praceedings
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of public bodies, like conrts of justice, Congress, or Legisla-
tures, and such like, are instances of privileged questions.—
The, best interests of socicty demand a freedom of commu-
nication in such instances; and the freedom of the press,
which, notwithstanding its occasional abuses, is among the
highest interests of civilized society, is concerned in the pre-
servation of these distihctions.

But does the letter of Dr. Lorain to Dr. Mutter fall into
any of these classes? Clearly not ; and in my opinion it does
not form itselt'a class of privileged communications. It is
- ruled that it was not a privileged communication. No law of
the land, no regulation of our medical colleges, no usage of
their alumni, has made it the duty of a graduated physician
to give information of the malpractices of a candidate for the
henors of these justly celebrated schools. If it is important
that they should have such information, (and in my opinion
they are much too careless as to the characters and qualifi-
cations of their students,) let them seek it from their gradu-
ates, or others. If the Jeflerson School had applied to Dr.
Lorain for information as to the practice and character of;
Dr. Hills, I am not prepared to say that a communication
that should have limited itself to a bona fide statement of the
matters sought, could have been libellous ; but no such ap-
plication was made, and not a circumstance has been proved
that invited such a communication. The defendant must be
regarded as a voluntecr. e undertook, of his own mere
motive, to write a libellous letter, and he must stand up to
the responsibility he voluntarily assumed,

The two letters of Dr. Lorain, for though only one of thenx
is declared on, both are in evidence as tending to prove mal-
ice, being inexcusable on the gronnd assumed for them that
they were privileged communications, imply malice, and in
connection with the facts of the case, cannot leave the jury
in doubt as to this third requisite of the Plaintiff's action.

Let us now look at the defence.” The pleas are, not guil-
ty, with leave to justify ; and the course of the trial has been
to justify the letter declared on, on the ground of its fruth.—
L'here were two courses open to the defendant, He might
have came in and pleaded not guilty, and given in evidence
any circumstance that tended to mitigate the damages ; or he
might plead a justification, and entitle himself to prove the
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truth of what he wrote. He chose the latter alternative, and
thus in effect, reasserts on the record the imputations contain-
ed in his letter.

I regard the plea of justification as applicable to the whole
letter of 23d February, 1849, The plaintifi’s declaration
contains but one count, and sets forth the whole letter as the
libel of which he complains. The letter, with all its charges,
is one hibel, and it is so charged; and a general plea of jus-
tification cannct logically have any other application than to
the whole letter, The defendant, then, stands here to justify
all the matters charged in that letter on the ground that they
are true ; and if he has satisfied the | jury that they are true,
it ie not & case for damages, though the letter was libellous,
and was not a privileged communication. But if the defen.
dant has satisfied you that the more grave and important
charges are true, and has fuiled to give any evidence con-
cerning the others, or has failed to satisfy you of their truth,
the plaintiff’s damages should be apportioned accordingly.—
’Whlle therefore, in view of the pleadings, we consider the let-
ter of February as one libel, it becomes necessary for the
jury to sepatate its parts, and to consider it in detail in view
of the evidence and for purposes of damages.

The letter was addressed to Dr. Mutter, a gentleman of
the highest standing ir his profession and who is an accom-
plished professor of surgery in the Jefferson Medical College,
in Philadelphia. Dr, Lorain tells him that the first trace he
has been able to find of his student, Dr. Hills, in Pennsy!va.
nia, was as keeping a stud- hm'se' next, a wagon-maker ;
next, & school-master for three or six months, and immedi-
ately after that, a quack doctor.

When it is considered that one of the regulations of the
Jefferson Scool is to confer a degree on 1espectable practi.
tioners of medicine for four years, who attend one course of
lectures and sustain the requisite examination, and that Dr,
Hills was a student there, under this regulation, claiming to
have been in the practice of medicine as a respectable physi-
cian for four years, the libellousness of this part of Dr. Lo.
rain’s letter will be apparent. It consists not in imputing
employments that are derogatory in themselves ; but in char-
ging that his time and attention have been dev nted to objects
perfectly inconsistent with four vears practice of medicine,
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and thus changing his relation to the school whose lectures
he was attending, and whose honors he was seeking. = And
it will be remembered, that among the definitions and distine-
tions read from Starkie, at the commencement of this charge,
~any writing that tends to change, for the worse, the relations
of a man in society, is libellous. Dr. Hills claimed to have
been a respectable practitioner of medicine for four years—
as such he was admitted to-take a course of lectures. Di.
Lorain strikes at the very foundation of his hopes and plans
when he tells Dr. Mutter that he had been engaged in other.
avocations, and had attained only the reputation of a Quack
Doctor. The material question now arises—has the defen-
dant proved these things true?  Of Dr. Hill’s keeping a stud-
horse, making wagons and teaching school in Pennsylvania,
there is not a particle of proof; and’since there is nothing de-
rogatory in thesc things, and they were injurious only in the
circumstances under which Dr. Hills was placed when they
were alleged against him, it is of no consequence to the de-
fendant that his plea of justification is applied here, instead
of the plea of not guilty ; for under any plea he must respond
in damages for charges that were injurious insthe then cir-
cumstances of the pl:imuﬂ', and concerning which he has giv-
en no cvidence whatever. But how far these charges, iu
comparison with others in the letter, were injurious to Dr.
Hills in depriving hum of a diploma, is matter for the jury to
consider in connection with the subject of damnages. These
charges are notjustified in the evidence onthe ground that they
were true, for though on the cross-examination of one of plain-
tiff ’s witnesses in the State of New York, it came out that Dr,
Hills had taught school in that State befﬂre he came to Penn-
sylvania, yet “there is no evidence that he taught school herc
as D%, Lorain charged. Here then in these charweq, mani-
festly injurious, and unproved, is ground on which the jury
may assess damages to the plaintiff. But what should be the
measure of ddl’ﬂﬂffﬁﬂ on account of this part of the letter 17—
If those charges were the means of losing Dr, Hills his di-
ploma, or his degree, the damages should be commensurate ;
but il there are other things in the letter, which itis fair to
presume were mainly instrumental in this result, a much
lower rate of damages should be assessed ou the ground ui'
these charges.
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As to the charge that Dr. Hills was a Quack Doctor, the
jury will consider the evidence we have about his practice,
and say whether it has been proved truc or not, It is not
quite easy to define a Quack Doctor. Dr. Lorain probably
means by the expression, one who assumes to practice medi-
cine without first attaining a degree ; but it may be doubtful
whether the Jefferson school so understands the term, for the
objcct of the regulation before referred to, is to confer a de-
gree on a respectable physician of four years standing ; thus
showing that in certain cases they recognize the practice of
andub’d Doctors as “agspectable.” It is more likely that
the Professors in the Jefferson schoof would understand from
the expression, as it stood connected in this letter, a rash and
ignorant pretender, who disgraced their profession by assum-
ing to practice it without adcquate reading or instruction.—
If so, the epitnet was highly opprobrious, and the, jury will
consider whether it is justified in the evidence. If it is, 1t
should not be the subject of damages. If it is not. it should
be. :
The letter then proceeds to charge that in two cases of
midwifery, Dr. Hills handed the children to the nurse without
tying the cord, and that one of them bled to death from this
cause. The defendat has given evidence of two cases, one
of Mrs. James Graham, the other of Mrs, Adams, which, 1t
s insisted, sustains this charge-in the letter. There is some
apparent contradiction in the proofs, but all the evidence in
regard to the matter of tying the cords of the children of these
two women is referred to the jury to say whether 1t justifies
the letter in this particular or not, and damages will or will
not be assessed on this ground as the jury shall find the evi-
dence.

The let‘er next asserts that he let a Mrs. Bates die unde-
tivered with a shoulder présentation, and let her bladder
burst for want of drawing off her urine. [ do not propose,
gentlemen of the jury, to go into the schocking details of this
aaseof Mrs. Bate’s. ~ The testimony of the witnesses is before
you, and I am sure it will not readily fade from your minds ;
but there is one fact thatis undisputed in the evidence that
would seem to me perfectly condemnatory of Dr, Hills, and
that is, that he abandoned that woman in the agonics of par;
‘grition, to'go and look after lumber. He had been eallgd to



her in good time—he had had a consulting physician called
in at the time of his own choosing—and yet he went off and
left her undelivered, and in the most pitiable condition of
any human being of whom I e¢ver read or heard! Dr.
Iddings was there, and he gives it as his professional opin-
ion, that she died of the bursting of her bladder ; though oth-
er professional opinions have thrown some doubt over this
opinion of Dr. I. If he was right, all that Dr. Lorain wrote
about this ease, and much wore, 1[ witnesses are believed, is
true, butif Dr. Iddings be not correct as to the immediate
cause of Mrs. Bates’ death, the question is, does not the proof
substantially sustain Dr. Lorain’s statement ? Did not Dr. Hills
let Mrs. Bates die undelivered with a shoulder presentation ?

It is said that a shoulder presentation is one of the most
difficult that ever occurs, and that this case of Mrs, Bates was
one of pzculiar difficulty, but the books are full of repeated
cases in which children have been safely delivered after a
shoulder presentation, and in which the lives of mothers have
been saved by dissecting thz child and taking it away; but
“no book has been produccd and no medical witness have
told us of an Accoucher who left the mother alive and unde-
livered. According to my opinion the child should have
been cut to pieces belore the thought of abandoning the
mother should have been indulged. Was Dr, Hills’ conduct
throughout this painful case that of a ¢ respectable ” physi-
cian? Why, gentlemen, if this case was as described, the
question is forced upon us, is such n man fitto be com.
pensated in damages? Be it that Dr. Lorain prevented his
getting a diploma, does he deserve damages? Here we get
into the depths of this cause, The queatinn is whether this
one transaction does not betray such ignorance of his p rofes-
sion and such reckless indiflierence to  human life on the part

of this Plaintiff, as unfit him to receive damages on account
of professional character and prospects, Thisis for the jury
to consider, but in no event will they assess damages against -
Dr. Lorain fer his report of this case if they believe the ew-
dence in regard toit,

The letter pext charges Dr. Hills with perf‘urmmg Cepha-
lotomy five times in a circle of 6 or 10 miles thinly settled,
When we see how rarely this operation is resorted to on the
part Orph_‘.'!ﬁit‘.i.‘il'l?«? whose Ii_‘;ipr"]'if‘”cjg} 18 T[":D_I'defl ﬁjr our in-
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structions—how careful they are to obtain the fullest cou-
sultations and to exhaust every expedient consistent with the
safety of the mother, before employing it—and with what
reluctance and delicacy they adopt it as the only alternative
to save the mother, we can understand with what astonish-
ment the learned Professors in the Jefferson School would be
likely to receive such an announcement concerning a physi-
cian of 4 years practice in a sparsely populated district,~-
It was a grievous charge to be borne. The material ques-
tion is, wasit true? There has been no evidence offered as
to more than three cases. [t was not true therefore as to two
and the Defendant stands without justification in regard to
them. But three cases, two of them on the same woman,Mrs.
Taylor, who has living children born both before and since
the operation, seems to have been proved, and so far the Dr.
has sustained his charge. It may be that these cases were
necessary, but if it were material to inquire into that | should
be disposed to insist on the evidence of a consulting physi.
cian if one was attainable, for I hold that no doctor has a
right to perform Cephalotomy without a consultation where
it can possibly be had; but the necessity and propriety of the
operation is not material, because the letter does not charge
that they were unnecessary. It merely states the fact, and
adds, to be sure, some circumstances that would indicate tha:
the operation was unnecessarily performed, but then these
circumstances have been substantially proved. If the evi-
dence is believed therefore the fact charged by Dr. Lorain
would seem to be sustained by proof as to three of the five
cases alleged. But where is the proof of the other two
charges? There is none. The attreciousness of this impu-
tation consists much in the number of cases mentioned, and
if Dr. Lorain has failed to justify the number charged, it is a
fair subject of consideration for damages.

As to the next charge in the letter, the sale of quack med-
icines, there does not secem to be much of importance attach-
ed to it on either side, and very little certainly is due to it.——
There is evidence on the part of the Defendant that substan.
tially proves what he alleged, and the Plaintiff’s counsel
have taken pains to reduce the enormity ofthis imputation by
showing that Dr. Lorain sold patent medicines himself, and
did not consider it inconsistant with his character asa ““respec-
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table” physician to do so. In what light the faculty of Jeffer-
son College would look upon the matter, we are not informed.
But this and the remaining observations in the letter, though
not of much importance in themselves, are defamatory when
taken in consideration with those that go before, and with
the circumstances in  which Dr. Hills was placed. How
much they should weigh in the estimate of damages, if any
weight whatever is due to them, the jury will judge. :

On the whole then, Gentleman of the Jury, you have a
case of clear libel before you—-attempted to be justified on
the ground of truth--and the attempt apparently successful
in part—in part unsuccessful, Now is it a case for damages ?
In considering the subject of damages, the jury are to have
no reference to the second letter in evidence, because the
assertions of the Plaintiff in that letter have not been com-
plained of as libellous and they form no part of the ground on
which the Plaintiff sues for damages. This ground is to be
found wholly and exclusively in the letter we have been con-
sidering. Looking at this letter, and considering the time and
circumstances in which it was written, the injury and disap-
pointment to which it subjected the Plaintiff, and the enor-
mity of some of its charges and imputations, [ would say, if
the attempted justification had wholly failed, that it would be
a case for heavy damages; but il the material charges have
been proved true, this cannot be said of the case. And the
question then arises, whether the Plaintiff, of whom these
graver matters could with truth be said, and to whose hopes
of graduating they wust have proved fatal eveu if nothing
clse had been alleged, is entitled to recover damages at all,
on the ground that he was prevented from obtaining his di-
ploma.

[f the jury, on a fair and candid review of the whole case,
think he is, they must take up the charges and see what of
them are justified in the evidence, and what are not, and
apportion damages accordingly.

To which the counsel, both of Plaintiff and Defendant,
excepted before verdict, and praved that it be filed of record,
which is done, GEORGE W, WOODWARD,
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